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I. Identity of Petitioner: 

Carrie Lee Aenk, Appellant, asks this court to accept review of the decision 

designated in Part B of this motion. 

II. Decision to be Reviewed: 

The Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed March 21, 

2017. 

III. Issues Presented for Review: 

1. Can the State Convict a Person of Theft by Presenting Evidence of 

Deception Only in Connection With the Failure to Perform a Contractual 

Obligation and Not in Connection With the Formation of the Contract? 

ANSWER: No. Under this Court's precedent, the State must present evidence 

of deception in the formation of the contract in order to convict a person of theft 

based on a failure to perform a contractual obligation. 

2. Whether an Out of Court Statement of Agreement or Consent is 

Excludable as Hearsay under ER 802? 

ANSWER: No. A statement of agreement or consent is not hearsay because it 

is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. 
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IV. Statement of the Case: 

Carrie and Allen Aenk ran a horse and dog rescue operation called "Shepherd's 

Way Rescure" for more than 20 years. As part of their non-profit operation, the Aenks 

took in abandoned or abused animals and rehabilitated them for later adoption. When 

arranging for adoption of one of their animals, the Aenks used a contract that provided 

for the payment of a non-refundable adoption fee and imposed upon the adoptee the 

obligation to provide an adequate and safe place to keep the animal. The contract also 

contained a number of separate condition for adoption that the adoptee had to read and 

initial as part of completing the adoption process. The contract also stated it was not an 

agreement for the purchase and sale of the animal, but for adoption only, and that 

Shepherd's Way had the right to repossess the animal within two years if the adoptee 

failed to provide adequate care for the animal. 

In the summer of 2013, Mrs. Aenk was contacted by Elle Hatfield who expressed 

an interest in adopting a horse for her disabled daughter. After seeing a horse named 

"Duke," Mrs. Hatfield agreed to adopt the horse and signed an adoption agreement on 

behalf of her daughter. The contract called for the payment of a $500 adoption fee, 

which Mrs. Hatfield paid to Mrs. Aenk. 

Mrs. Hatfield also expressed interest in adopting two other horses, "Baron" and 

"Quinn." Later, Mrs. Hatfield and her husband agreed to adopt both "Baron" and 

"Quinn." It was later disputed whether they agreed to an adoption fee of $2,500 for each 

horse or whether the adoption fee was intended for both horses. The Hatfields gave Mrs. 

Aenk a check for $2,500. Mrs. Hatfield signed a separate adoption contract for each 

horse, which also stated in bold and italicized letters that the fee was non-refundable. 
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None of the horses were ever delivered to the Hatfields. The reason why was 

disputed at trial. Both Mr. and Mrs. Aenk testified that the property where the Hatfields 

intended to keep the horses was not suitable and did not meet the requirements of the 

adoption contracts. The Hatfields testified that they believed they had satisfied all of the 

Aenks' concerns regarding the condition of the property and that their refusal to deliver 

the horses was unjustified. When the Hatfields demanded a return of the adoption fees 

they had paid, the Aenks refused. It was not disputed at trial that Mrs. Hatfield had read 

the adoption contracts and knew that the adoption fees specified in the contracts were not 

refundable, although she testified she still believed she would get the money back if the 

adoptions did not go through. 

The Hatfields complained to law enforcement and charges were brought against 

Mrs. Aenk, but not Mr. Aenk. Mrs. Aenk was charged with Third Degree Theft for 

failing to return the $500 adoption fee for "Duke" and Attempted Second Degree Theft 

for attempting to negotiate the $2,500 check given to her by Mrs. Hatfield as the adoption 

fee for "Baron" or "Quinn" or both. 

At trial, the defense attempted to elicit testimony from Mr. Aenk regarding 

statements made to him by Mr. Hatfield concerning when the horses would be delivered 

and what should be done with the $2,500 check. The state objected to any such 

testimony on hearsay grounds and the trial court excluded the proffered testimony. Mrs. 

Aenk was convicted by a jury on both counts. 
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V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted: 

This appeal presents two issues of exceptional importance to the citizens of the 

State of Washington. The first issue is whether a person who fails to perform a 

contractual obligation can be convicted of theft in the absence of any evidence of fraud in 

the formation of the contract. The second issue is whether an out of court statement 

expressing agreement or consent to action or inaction by another constitutes inadmissible 

hearsay. These issues are of exceptional importance because the citizens of this State 

enter into verbal and written contracts on a daily basis as part of everyday, ordinary life. 

Citizens should not have to guess as to when the failure to perform a contractual 

obligation may result in criminal prosecution and/or conviction. Otherwise, they will be 

reluctant to enter into contracts that impose any obligation they may later be unable or 

unwilling to perform. 

This Court should also take the opportunity to reaffirm the rule that an out of 

court statement expressing agreement or consent to a particular course of action does not 

constitute hearsay and is not excludable under ER 802. 

1. Failure to Require the State to Prove Deception in the Formation of a 

Contract in Order to Establish a Theft Based on a Later Breach Unecessarily 

Exposes Citizens to Criminal Prosecution and Gives the Prosecuting Authority 

Unbridled Discretion in Choosing When to Prosecute. 

RCW 9A.56.050(1)(b) defines theft as follows: 

[b ]y color or aid of deception to obtain control over the property or 
services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of such 
property or services. 
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RCW 9A.56.0I0(5) defines "deception" as follows: 

"Deception occurs when an actor knowingly: 

( e) Promises performance which the actor does not intend to perform or 
knows will not be performed. 

Under this definition of theft, every breach of contract potentially becomes a 

crime if a failure to perform is viewed as evidence that the party did not intend to perform 

or did not expect to perform at the time the contract was entered into. Applying the theft 

statute in this manner, however, creates a substantial "gray area" in which parties to a 

contract cannot know whether their conduct may subject them to criminal liability. When 

viewed in hindsight, almost any set of facts surrounding an alleged breach of contract can 

be interpreted as evidencing an intent not to perform. After all, the fact that a party to a 

contract fails or refuses to perform an obligation for any reason can be said to make it 

more likely that the party did not intend to perform when they entered into the contract. 

To avoid this problem, Washington courts have developed rules designed to 

separate criminal liability for theft and civil liability for breach of contract. In State v. 

Pike, 118 Wn.2d 585, 826 P.2d 152 (1992), this Court held that mere breach of 

contractual obligation does not create criminal liability absent a specific statute or 

contractual fraud. Id., 118 Wn.2d at 595, citing, State v. Polzin, 197 Wash. 612,619, 85 

P.2d 1057 (1939) and RCW 9A.56.020. As the Court there stated: 

We are loath to tum the criminal justice system into a mechanism for the 
collection of private debts. . . . [A] conviction based solely upon a breach of a 
contractual obligation to pay must fail because it violates the Washington State 
Constitution, which states that "[t]here shall be no imprisonment for debt, except 
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in cases of absconding debtors. Const.art. I, § 17. This constitution provision 
"relates to run-of-the-mill debtor-creditor relationships arising ... principally, out 
of matters basically contractual in nature." Although it is acceptable to imprison 
for fraud, one cannot be imprisoned merely for failure to pay a debt. /d.(citations 
omitted) 

In State v. Sloan, 79 Wn.App. 553, 903 P.2d 522 (1995), Division 3 of the Court 

of Appeals held that to prove theft by color or aid of deception, the State must present 

evidence that property or services were obtained as a result of deception and that the 

deception occurred at or before the defendant obtained possession of the property or 

services. In Sloan, the State charged the defendant with theft of repossession services by 

color or aid of deception. The defendant had gained entry into Auto Recovery Service's 

lot by means of false pretences and surreptitiously removed a boat that defendant had 

contracted with Auto Recovery to repossess. The court held that because the 

repossession of the boat had occurred before any deception, the act of obtaining those 

services could not have been the result of any deception. Therefore, the facts alleged in 

the information did not support the defendant's conviction. Id., 79 Wn.App at 555-56. 

While the holdings of Pike and Sloan may seem simple and straight-forward on 

their face, Washington courts have had difficulty in determining what kind of evidence 

will suffice to establish that the defendant is guilty of more than a breach of contract. For 

example, in an unpublished opinion in State v. Cover, 2008 WL 3845366, Division 3 held 

that the State had presented sufficient evidence to establish theft by deception based on 

testimony that the defendant had taken down payments from a number of persons under 

contracts to construct pole buildings. The State presented evidence that the defendant did 

not obtain any permits, complete any work, or provide any materials with respect to most 

of the contracts. Cover, at 2 - 4. There was also evidence that the defendant had made 
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statements to the effect that he did not intend to do any work on the contracts and that he 

had previously been investigated for similar conduct. Id., at 6-8. 

Not surprisingly, the court in Cover found sufficient evidence to uphold 

defendant's conviction. However, in doing so, the court also made the statement that the 

defendant's failure to take action on the contracts was evidence of his intent not to 

perform. Id., at 2. In other words, the court treated a breach of defendant's contractual 

obligations as prima facie evidence of a pre-existing intent not to perform. That 

statement appears to conflict with the this Court's pronouncement in State v. Pike that 

breach of contract, by itself, can never be the basis for a theft conviction, since it would 

allow a fact-finder to infer intent not to perform at the inception of the contract from 

nothing more than non-performance. 

In State v. Casey, 81 Wn.App. 524,915 P.2d 587 (1996) (Division 1), the court 

faced a somewhat different set of fact, but reached a similar conclusion. In Casey, the 

State presented evidence that the defendant had proposed to several homeowners that he 

would pave or patch their driveways for what the defendant represented was a reasonable 

charge per square foot. The defendant would then do significantly more work than he 

had proposed and present a bill that was much greater than anticipated by the 

homeowner. Casey, 81 Wn.App at 527-32. The State also presented evidence that the 

defendant had charged some homeowners an amount well above the going rate for such 

work and that after each job, he had escorted the customer to the bank to obtain payment 

or had the customer purchase a cashier's check for payment. Id., at 525-26. The court 

found such evidence sufficient to establish theft by deception. Id., at 531. 
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The Casey opinion is particularly troubling because it found sufficient evidence to 

support theft by deception even though the testimony of witnesses clearly shows they 

knew exactly how much work had been performed and how much they were being 

charged before they gave payment to the defendant. Each of the alleged victims clearly 

had the opportunity to simply refuse to pay for any work that they had not authorized. 

Thus, they could not have relied on any deception when paid defendant for the work. 

Nevertheless, the court held that evidence that the victims had relied on the defendant's 

representations "when deciding to accept his offer" was sufficient to support theft by 

color or aid of deception. Id., at 531. 

Here, the evidence presented at trial, even when viewed in the light most 

favorable to the State, establishes nothing more than a breach of contract. The adoption 

contract signed by Elle Hatfield clearly stated in bold letters that the $500 adoption fee 

was non-refundable. The contract also clearly stated in a number of separate paragraphs 

initialed by Ms. Hatfield, that certain conditions would have to be met before Shepherd's 

Way would deliver "Duke" to the Hatfields. Furthermore, the contract stated that 

Shepherd's Way had the right to remove "Duke" from the Hatfield's possession at any 

time during a two year period if thOse conditions were not maintained. Each of those 

conditions related to ensuring a safe, healthy and nurturing environment for "Duke." 

In upholding Ms. Aenk's conviction, the Court of Appeals cited the following as 

evidence of deception on the part of Ms. Aenk: 

• Exhibits showed alterations by Ms. Aenk of the adoption fee stated in the 

contracts for two other horses; 
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• Text messages showed hostile threats by Ms. Aenk to prevent the 

Hatfields from taking the horses; 

• Elle Hatfield testified to delays and false promises by the Aenks' 

• Dustin Hatfield testified that Ms. Aenk attempted to cash a check after 

stating that she would destroy it; 

• Both Hatfields "averred" concerning delays in delivering "Duke" and two 

other horses; 

• The Hatfields paid a nonrefundable adoption fee, which the Court labeled 

as a "price," even though the contract clearly stated that the Hatfields were 

not purchasing "Duke" and "Duke" was not being sold to them. (Opinion, 

p. 14) 

The foregoing evidence fails to establish anything more than a breach of contract 

by the Aenks. Each of the acts cited by the Court of Appeals took place long after Ms. 

Hatfield had signed the adoption contract and paid the $500 nonrefundable adoption fee. 

The contract itself made it clear that delivery of "Duke" was dependent upon the 

Hatfields meeting certain requirements. Thus, the Hatfields were well aware that in the 

event Shepherd's Way determined that the Hatfields had not met those requirements 

"Duke" would not be delivered to them and they would not receive a refund of the 

adoption fee. 

It is not disputed that Mr. and Mrs. Aenk spent considerable time at the Hatfield's 

property and provided assistance in getting the property ready to accept "Duke" and tow 

other horses. Nor is it disputed that the Hatfields demanded delivery and the Aenks 

refused, claiming that the property was not suitable and did not meet the requirements of 
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the adoption contract. Even if it is accepted that Ms. Aenk engaged in deceptive conduct 

with respect to why Shepherd's Way would not deliver "Duke" and the other two horses, 

any such deception had nothing to do with the payment or retention of the $500 adoption 

fee. Thus, the State failed to prove Ms. Aenk committed theft of $500 by color or aid of 

deception. 

The State presented no evidence that the Aenks had ever in the past failed to 

deliver adopted animals within a reasonable time and according to the terms of the 

adoption contract. There was no evidence that Mrs. Aenks had made any statements 

indicating that Shepherd's Way did intended to deliver "Duke" to the Hatfields and no 

evidence that she engaged in any deceptive conduct prior to accepting the adoption fee 

for "Duke" on behalf of Shepherd's Way. On the contrary, the undisputed evidence 

showed that the Aenks visited the Hatfields' property several times and provided 

assistance in getting it ready for "Duke and the other horses with the expectation that the 

horses would eventually be delivered. Only the extent of assistance they provided was 

disputed at trial. In sum, there is simply no evidence that Ms. Aenk did not intend for 

Shepherd's Way to perform its obligations under the adoption contract other than the fact 

that Shepherd's Way later refused to deliver "Duke" to the Hatfields. Such evidence is 

insufficient to support a conviction for theft. 

This Court should take this opportunity to restate the principles established in 

State v. Pike and State v. Sloan. The citizens of this State should not have to worry that 

any time they enter into a contract with someone, a later claim of breach might lead to 

criminal charges or even conviction. This Court should use this case to make clear once 

again that the criminal law should not be used as a means of collecting a private debt or 
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settling a private dispute. Without clearly defined parameters for distinguishing between 

civil and criminal liability, citizens of this State will not have fair warning of what 

conduct does or does not expose them to criminal sanctions. 

Moreover, the lack of clearly defined boundaries between civil and criminal 

liability in the context of contractual disputes gives too much discretion to police and 

prosecutors to arrest and charge persons based upon personal feeling or personal 

relationships. A party to a contract who has a friend in the local prosecutor's office or 

who is able to gain the sympathy of a police officer should not able to access the criminal 

justice system as a substitute for a civil action, unless there are facts and circumstances 

that clearly define the conduct of the other party as criminal. This Court should accept 

review of this case and issue an opinion that establishes in clear and certain terms where 

the boundary between breach of contract and theft lies so that the citizens of this state can 

conform their actions accordingly. 

2. The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Hearsay Rule by Holding that an Out 

of Court Statement of Agreement or Consent Was Excludable Hearsay under ER 802. 

ER 802 states 

Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules, 
by other court rules, or by statute. 

By its plain language, ER 802 excludes only evidence that is hearsay. Evidence that is 

not hearsay is not excluded under ER 802. 

ER 801 defines hearsay as: 

[A] statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial 
or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted 
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Whether a statement evidencing agreement or consent to some action or inaction, 

as in a contract, constitutes hearsay was settled long ago by this Court in the case of 

Hartford v. Faw, 166 Wash. 335, 7 P.2d 4 (1932). There the Court held that an 

extrajudical statement offered to prove the existence of an agreement or contract is not 

hearsay and not excludable on that basis. Quoting Wigmore on Evidence (2d Ed.)§ 

1776, the Court stated: 

The theory of the hearsay rule is that when a human utterance is offered as 
evidence of the truth of the fact asserted in it, the credit of the assertor becomes 
the basis of our inference, and therefore the assertion can be received only when 
made upon the stand, subject to the test of cross-examination. If, therefore, an 
extrajudical utterance is offered, not as an assertion to evidence the matter 
asserted, but without reference to the truth of the matter asserted, the hearsay rule 
does not apply. 

Hartford v. Faw, 166 Wash. at 340. 

Id. 

The Court further explained: 

It is hardly necessary to cite authorities to the obvious proposition that when 
proof is to be made of a parole contract, or when for other reason the statements 
of a person are relevant, such statements may be proved by third persons who 
were present as well as by the one who used the language. In such cases, the 
statements are not hearsay, but substantive evidence. 

Other Washington courts appear to have had some difficulty applying the rule of 

Hartford v. Faw. In a case involving the admission of a statement granting consent to 

search a premises was challenge on hearsay grounds, Division 2 characterized the 

statements as "verbal acts" not subject to the hearsay rule, although the statements clearly 

constituted out of court statements as defined in ER 801. State v. Gillespie, 18 Wn.App. 

313, 315, 569 P.2d 1174 (1977). In an unpublished opinion, Division 3 upheld the 
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admission of a search consent card under the business records exception to the hearsay 

rule. See, State v. Ramseth, 1998 WL 1713344. 

Here, Mrs. Aenk attempted to introduce testimony at trial that Mr. Hatfield had 

told her and her husband that they should keep a check the Hatfields had given them and 

use it later as payment for the adoption fee for one of the horses not yet delivered. The 

statement was offered to show that the Aenks believed they had authority to hold on to 

the check and cash it at a later time, contrary to the State's claim that the Hatfields had 

given the Aenks cash in lieu of the check, which had been declined by the Hatfield's 

bank, and expected the check to be returned to them. The statement by Mr. Hatfield was 

clearly in the nature of a contractual agreement and not offered to prove any matter 

asserted in the statement. As in Hartford v. Faw, the relevance of the statement lies in 

the fact that it was made, not that it was true. In other words, it does not matter whether 

Mr. Hatfield meant what he said, it only matters that he said it. 

Mrs. Aenk also offered statements by the Hatfields to Mr. Aenk regarding the 

Hatfield's understanding or agreement as to when the horses would be delivered. The trial 

court excluded any out of court statements made by the Hatfields on the grounds that the 

statements were inadmissible hearsay. 

The Court of Appeals also characterized the statement as inadmissible hearsay. 

(Opinion, p. 13) and upheld the trial court's ruling excluding any testimony concerning 

those statements. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that Mrs. Aenk offered the 

statements only show why she believed there was an agreement between the parties 

regarding delivery of the horses and maintaining possession of the check. Nevertheless, 

the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court on the grounds that Ms. Aenk did not present 
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specific testimony that the statements were made to her or conveyed to her by her 

husband. 

The only objection to the testimony at trial was on the grounds of hearsay. The 

State never raised any objection on relevance grounds. The Court of Appeals erred by 

upholding the trial court's decision to exclude the evidence on hearsay grounds. This 

Court should take review of this case for the purpose of clarifying the type of statements 

that constitute hearsay from those that do not, particularly in connection with the alleged 

existence of an agreement or understanding between parties or a statement giving consent 

to some action or inaction by another. 

VI. Conclusion: 

For the foregoing reasons, this court should accept review, reverse the 

decision of the Court of Appeals, and remand this case to the trial court with instructions 

to dismiss Appellant's conviction for Third Degree Theft and for a new trial as to the 

charge of Attempted Second Degree Theft. 

~ 
Respectfully submitted th~ day of April, 2017. 

1chard D. Wall, WSBA#l6581 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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No. 34035-0-111 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FEARING, C.J. - Carrie Aenk appeals convictions for attempted second degree 

theft and third degree theft. She argues that the trial court denied her the constitutional 

right to present a defense when the court excluded hearsay testimony. She also argues 

the State presented insufficient evidence on which to convict her. We disagree and 

affirm the convictions. 

FACTS 

Carrie and Allan Aenk, wife and husband, operate Shepherd's Way Animal 
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Rescue (Shepherd's Way), a dog and horse rescue ranch in Springdale. On July 6, 2013, 

Elle Hatfield, of Post Falls, Idaho, called Shepherd's Way to discuss an advertisement for 

the adoption of a rescue horse. Hatfield's husband, Dustin, then labored in Afghanistan. 

Hatfield spoke with Carrie Aenk, owner and manager of Shepherd's Way. Hatfield 

mentioned that she desired a horse for her autistic daughter to ride: Aenk responded that 

she works with autistic children on her ranch and the advertised horse, Duke, suited 

Hatfield's needs. Aenk also volunteered that other potential buyers had showed interest 

in Duke and that Aenk would sell to the first acceptable offeror. 

The day following the phone call, Elle Hatfield and her daughter visited 

Shepherd's Way, where Hatfield examined Duke. The daughter fell in love with Duke. 

Because of other potential buyers, Hatfield signed a contract on July 7 for Duke's 

adoption. The contract required a $500.00 nonrefundable adoption fee. Hatfield 

tendered a check for $520.00, $500.00 for the adoption fee and $20.00 for a book written 

by Carrie Aenk. On August 9, 2013, Carrie Aenk cashed the $520.00 check at Global 

Credit Union in Spokane. 

Elle and Dustin Hatfield recently had purchased a home with acreage, and the 

property lacked a fence for a horse. On July 7, Elle Hatfield mentioned to Carrie Aenk 

that Hatfield must board Duke until she erected a fence on her property. Aenk agreed to 

board Duke temporarily. Aenk also insisted on teaching the Hatfield daughter in riding 
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Duke before the Hatfields took Duke home. During the visit to Shepherd's Way, Elle 

Hatfield inquired about other adoptable horses. 

During this first visit, Elle Hatfield asked Carrie Aenk for a copy of the signed 

Duke purchase agreement. Because the two stood in the field, Aenk stated she would 

later e-mail Hatfield a copy. Hatfield never received a copy. 

A week later, Elle Hatfield and her daughter returned to Shepherd's Way so that 

the teenager could ride Duke. Carrie Aenk instructed the daughter on riding Duke. 

During this second visit, Elle Hatfield again expressed interest in adopting other 

horses. Aenk mentioned Quinn and Baron as her only adoption horses, yet claimed they 

were her favorite horses.· Still, Aenk asserted that she would not sell either horse for less 

than $5,000. Hatfield assumed that Aenk joked about a price since Aenk earlier stated 

she would not sell either equine. Hatfield jested that she would not pay $5,000 for a 

horse. Aenk then grew friendlier and talkier. Hatfield remarked that she would pay 

$2,500. Aenk replied: "Yeah, a piece." Report of Proceedings (RP) at 139. Hatfield 

exclaimed that her husband would not approve of paying $2,500 per horse, after which 

Aenk labeled Hatfield a "trophy wife." RP at 139. Carrie Aenk then escorted Elle 

Hatfield to the location of Quinn and Baron. Hatfield adored the loveable Tennessee 

Walkers, stated she wanted the two horses, but repeated that she would not pay Aenk's 

pnce. Carrie Aenk stated she would speak to her husband about a sale of the horses, and 
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the conversation and visit ended. 

At some unidentified time, Elle Hatfield called Carrie Aenk to schedule a time for 

Hatfield's daughter to again ride Duke. Hatfield asked Aenk if Aenk had spoken to her 

husband about the sale of Quinn and Baron. According to Hatfield, Aenk responded that 

she had spoken to her husband, the two were reluctant to sell the two horses for $2,500, 

but, since no one else rode the horses, they would sell the Tennessee Walkers for $2,500. 

Hatfield ended the conversation by stating she wanted her husband to see the horses. 

Upon Dustin Hatfield's return from Afghanistan, Dustin, Elle, and their daughter 

traveled to Shepherd's Way to see Quinn and Baron. During this August 18, 2013 visit, 

the daughter rode Duke. Elle Hatfield met Carrie Aenk's husband, Allan, and Dustin 

Hatfield met both Aenks. Carrie showed the Hatfields Quinn and Baron. Dustin Hatfield 

sought to reaffirm that the total price for the two horses was $2,500, and, according to 

Dustin, Carrie Aenk expressed agreement to the figure. 

Elle Hatfield commenced to complete one form contract for the purchase of Quinn 

and Baron. Carrie Aenk interrupted Elle, presented Elle with a second contract, and 

directed Elle to complete a contract for each horse. Hatfield then crossed out Baron's 

name from the first contract. Elle asked her husband for the answer to $2,500 divided by 

two. Dustin Hatfield responded $1,250, but then checked his head math with his 

cellphone's calculator. According to Elle Hatfield, she then completed both contracts by 
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inserting $1,250 as the nonrefundable adoption fee for the respective horses. Dustin 

Hatfield wrote a check to Carrie Aenk for $2,500. Dustin postdated the check to August 

24, 2013. 

On August 18, the Hatfields left Shepherd's Way without a copy of the two 

contracts. Carrie Aenk told the couple she would later e-mail them copies. Aenk added 

that she and her husband held the right to inspect the Hatfields' property at any time to 

determine the property's suitability to house a horse. The Aenks kept possession of 

Quinn and Baron until the Hatfields erected a suitable fence to keep the horses. 

Carrie Aenk claims Elle and Dustin Hatfield agreed, on August 18, to pay $2,500 

per horse. Copies of each contract later in the possession of Carrie Aenk state the 

purchase price for each horse to be $2,500. Nevertheless, the copies show some 

doctoring of the nonrefundable price. According to Allan Aenk, Elle Hatfield wrote a 

check for $2,500. The Hatfields would pay the remaining $2,500 on delivery of the 

horses. 

Between August 18 and 24, 2013, Carrie and Allan Aenk visited the Hatfields' 

property at least three times. On the first visit, the Aenks told the Hatfields that the 

Hatfields needed to purchase other fence posts and alter the configuration of the fence. 

The Hatfields obeyed. The alterations cost $1,000. On the second visit, the Aenks 

demanded one more change in the fence. 
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On Saturday, August 24, 2013, Carrie Aenk telephoned Elle Hatfield. Aenk 

reported that the Hatfields' postdated check would not clear the banking system. Hatfield 

called her bank, which informed her that her account held sufficient funds to pay the 

check. Hatfield called Aenk and informed Aenk that she should encounter no difficulty 

in cashing the check. The two then dialogued: 

[AENK:] "Well, I need the money or you guys can't get the horses 
delivered." 

[HATFIELD:] "Okay, well, you know, we can meet you at the 
bank." 

[AENK:] "No, I just need cash." 
[HATFIELD:] "Okay, if you bring us the check, we'll get you 

cash." 
[AENK:] "Okay, well, Allan and I are already in town; so we can 

just meet you at the property." 

RP at 154-55. 

The Hatfields went to their bank and withdrew $2,500 in cash. The Hatfields and 

the Aenks then met at the Hatfields' property. According to Elle Hatfield, her husband 

exited the family car and handed the cash to one of the Aenks, who remained in their 

vehicle. The Aenks did not return the $2,500 check and did not provide Dustin Hatfield a 

receipt for the cash. 

According to Allan Aenk, he discussed with Elle and Dustin Hatfield, during the 

August 24 visit, a time for the delivery of the horses and access to water for the horses at 

the Hatfields' land. The record does not show Carrie Aenk to be present during the 
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discussion. Allan Aenk insisted that the Hatfields had yet to prepare the property to care 

for horses. He also stated that he and his wife agreed to delivery of the horses on 

Monday, August 26. 

Upon Dustin Hatfield's return to the car, Elle Hatfield learned that Dustin received 

no receipt nor the $2,500 check. From the car, Elle Hatfield called Carrie Aenk, and the 

two conversed by speaker phone: 

too." 

RP at 155. 

[HATFIELD:] "So, Carrie, um, you forgot to bring us the check." 
[AENK:] "Yeah. Oh, dam it. It's at my house." 
[HATFIELD:] "Yeah, and you were going to bring that receipt, 

[ AENK:] "Yeah, I' 11 bring it when I bring the horses." 

Elle and Dustin Hatfield anticipated delivery of Quinn and Baron on August 25, 

2013, the day following the tender of the $2,500 in cash. The Aenks appeared on August 

25 without the horses. The Aenks announced that, because of other commitments, they 

were unable to deliver the Tennessee Walkers for another two weeks. The Aenks also 

had yet to deliver Duke to the dismay of the Hatfield daughter. 

On August 26, 2013, Elle Hatfield texted Carrie Aenk and wrote that, if the Aenks 

did not deliver Quinn and Baron by August 27, the Hatfields would cancel the contract to 

purchase the two horses. Elle Hatfield volunteered to retrieve the horses from Shepherd's 

Way. Carrie Aenk responded that the Aenks already had a commitment and would not 
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engage in two commitments at one time. Eventually Aenk texted Hatfield: 

If the unreasonableness continues, I will abide by the contract and 
determine that the horses will be unsafe in that environment and cancel all 
three contracts. 

Ex. 13. Elle Hatfield reminded Carrie Aenk that Aenk had never mailed a copy of the 

contracts to Hatfield. Aenk ended the texting with a threat and a prophecy: 

If you come to the ranch, you will be trespassing. See you in court. 

Ex. P-15. 

During the morning of August 27, 2013, Dustin Hatfield and Carrie Aenk spoke 

by phone. Aenk stated that the Board of Directors of Shepherd's Way voted to preclude 

the Hatfields from adopting the three horses because of a hostile environment at the 

Hatfields' property. Aenk declared, however, that Shepherd's Way would refund the 

Hatfields the purchase prices. 

Later on August 27, 2013, Carrie Aenk visited ACE check cashing service and 

attempted to cash the $2,500 check. ACE called Dustin Hatfield. Dustin directed ACE 

not to cash the check. Aenk later claimed that she was just trying to see if the check 

remained valid. She also declared that she was entitled to the check. Dustin Hatfield 

called his bank and placed a stop payment order on the check. He then called Crime 

Check and reported the conduct of Elle Hatfield. 
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The Hatfields still pursued obtaining possession of the horses. The couple rented a 

trailer to ferry the horses from Shepherd's Way to the Hatfields' land. Carrie Aenk 

responded that she would shoot the Hatfields if the couple came near her ranch. The 

Aenks never delivered any of the three horses to the Hatfields. 

PROCEDURE 

The State of Washington charged Carrie Aenk with attempted second degree theft 

and third degree theft. The attempted second degree theft charge arose from the receipt 

of at least $2,500 for the purchase of Quinn and Baron without an intention to deliver the 

horses to the Hatfields. The third degree theft charge stems from the receipt of $500 for 

the acquisition of Duke without an intent to deliver the horse to the Hatfields. 

During trial, Elle Hatfield testified that she eventually concluded that the Aenks 

would not deliver any of the three horses. Dustin Hatfield testified that Carrie Aenk stole 

$3,000, that he concluded that the Hatfields would never see the horses again, and that 

the Hatfields would lack recourse to rectify the theft. 

During Allan Aenk's testimony, defense counsel asked Allan questions about 

comments made by Elle and Dustin Hatfield to him and discussions between the three, on 

August 24, as to the date of delivery of the horses. The State repeatedly objected to the 

questions on hearsay grounds. The crux of the questioning follows: 
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Q .... On that Saturday [August 24, 2013], did you have 
discussions with either Mr. or Mrs. Hatfield about when the horses could be 
delivered? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. And what was the substance of those discussions? 
MS. ZAPPONE: Objection, hearsay. 
THE COURT: So Counsel, he can testify to what he said; but if 

you're asking for the substance of the discussions, you're asking him to 
testify to what other people said. 

MR. WALL [Defense Counsel]: Well, Your Honor, I don't know 
how the jury can understand what happened ifhe can't testify as to what 
was talked about in terms of when the horses would be delivered. 

RP at 374-75. 

After excusing the jury, Allan Aenk and the trial court discoursed: 

[ALLAN AENK]: So if I base my actions and my language or my 
discussion with Elle and Dustin, if I base that off of what they've told me, I 
can't say that they told me this and that's why I did this. Is that what 
you're saying? 

THE COURT: I'm telling you you can't testify to what they told 
you. I will let you testify to what you did. You just can't say, "They told 
me this." It's hearsay. 

RP at 377-78. 

Defense counsel argued that he did not offer Allan Aenk's testimony for the truth 

of the matter asserted. Counsel asserted that he would use the testimony to explain Elle 

Hatfield's state of mind concerning the horse transactions. Counsel also argued that the 

comments made by the Hatfields to Allan Aenk helped to establish the agreement 

reached between the parties as to the timing of delivery of the horses. Nevertheless, 
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Carrie Aenk presented no offer of proof that Allan Aenk later told Carrie Aenk what the 

Hatfields said such that Carrie Aenk relied on the Hatfields' statements when reflecting 

on the agreed time for delivery. Carrie Aenk presented no testimony that she was present 

and overheard the conversation between her husband and the Hatfields. Her counsel 

never asked her if she had a conversation with the Hatfields concerning timing of 

delivery. 

Carrie Aenk testified to the following: 

Q. Okay. We talked about these contracts, okay, and that each of 
them says $2,500 for Quinn and [Baron], correct? 

A. Correct. 
Q. Was that what was written on those contracts when you first 

received them? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. Did you alter that in any way? 
A. No. 
Q. Did you ever scratch out a different number and replace it? 
A. No. 
Q. Was it your understanding that the Hatfields had agreed to pay a 

$2,500 adoption fee for each of the horses Quinn and [Baron]? 
A. Correct. 
Q. Okay. And did you receive payment for Quinn? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. And did you have an understanding that you were 

supposed to wait any period of time before negotiating that check? 
A. Yes. 

RP at 451. 

Q. Okay. Were you anticipating when you got to the property that 
you were going to collect cash from Mr.-

A. Yes. 
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RP at 455. 

Q. -Hatfield? Okay. And did you collect cash? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And how much? 
A. $2,600. 
Q. And what was your understanding of what that money was for? 
A. It was for Quinn's adoption fee. 

Q. And did you ultimately end up keeping the check? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Okay. What was your understanding of why you were keeping 

the check? 
A. Because we were-I can't give hearsay. 
Q. No. I'm just asking you what your understanding was. 
A. My understanding of being allowed to keep the check was for the 

second payment for [Baron]. 
Q. Okay. And did you then intend at some point to negotiate that 

check for the contract for [Baron]? 
A. We didn't try to negotiate it. 
Q. No, no. Did you intend at some time to cash that check? Not on 

that day. 

it. 
A. Not on that day. We went to verify it, but we did not try to cash 

Q. I'm asking if you intended to cash that check at some point. 
A. At some point. 
Q. Okay. And at what point did you intend to actually cash the 

check? 

RP at 458-59. 

A. When we delivered [Baron]. 

Q .... Did Mrs. Hatfield ask you something in that phone call? 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did she ask you? 
A. Why haven't we cashed the check yet? 
Q. Okay. And what did you tell her? 
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A. I told her because we weren't supposed to cash it until after 
[Baron] was delivered. 

RP at 460. Carrie Aenk did not testify that her husband mentioned to her statements 

made by Elle and Dustin Hatfield about an agreed time for delivery of any of the three 

horses. 

The jury found Carrie Aenk guilty of both attempted second degree theft and third 

degree theft. Aenk filed a motion for a new trial based on the trial court's decision to 

sustain the hearsay objections during Allan Aenk's testimony. The trial court denied the 

motion. 

LAW AND ANALYSIS 

Issue 1: Whether the proposed testimony of Allan Aenk constituted 

inadmissible hearsay? 

Answer 1: Yes. 

Carrie Aenk argues that the trial court erred when sustaining a series of hearsay 

objections during Allan Aenk's testimony. The objections followed questioning of Allan 

Aenk concerning statements made by Elle and Dustin Hatfield to Allan on August 24, 

2013, at the Hatfields' property. 

This court reviews evidentiary rulings for manifest abuse of discretion. State v. 

Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 78, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Discretion is abused only when no 
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reasonable person would have decided the issue as the trial court did. State v. Rice, 110 

Wn.2d 577,600, 757 P.2d 889 (1988). 

Hearsay is defined as an out of court statement "offered in evidence to prove the 

truth of the matter asserted." ER 80l(c). A statement is not hearsay if it is used only to 

show the effect on the listener without regard to the truth of the statement. State v. 

Gonzalez-Gonzalez, 193 Wn. App. 683,690,370 PJd 989 (2016); State v. Edwards, 131 

Wn. App. 611,614, 128 PJd 631 (2006). 

According to Carrie Aenk, statements uttered by the Hatfields to Allan Aenk 

helped to establish Carrie Aenk's belief as to the agreement between the parties, 

particularly concerning a date for delivery of the horses. Carrie Aenk may also argue that 

the trial court should have admitted Allan Aenk's testimony concerning purported 

comments of the Hatfields in order to show the impact of the statements on Allan. 

Nevertheless, the effect on Allan is not directly relevant to criminal charges against 

Carrie Aenk. Also, Carrie Aenk presented no testimony that her husband relayed to her 

· any comments uttered to him by the Hatfields. Thus, the Hatfield comments would lack 

any impact on Carrie Aenk's understanding of any agreement. The trial court did not 

abuse its discretion in excluding the testimony. 

Carrie Aenk contends that the trial court also precluded her from testifying as to 

comments uttered by the Hatfields to Carrie about the timing of delivery of the horses. 
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The only citation to the record given by Aenk for this purported preclusion is a section of 

a brief in support of a motion for reconsideration. The brief, in turn, contains no citation 

to the transcript. Therefore, we conclude the trial court precluded no such testimony 

from Carrie Aenk. RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires an appellant to cite to the relevant portions of 

the record in the argument section of her brief. A party must cite to the record for 

assigned error. Glazer v. Adams, 64 Wn.2d 144, 149, 391 P.2d 195 (1964). 

Carrie Aenk further assigns error to the trial court's purported refusal to allow her 

to testify that Dustin Hatfield directed her to keep the $2,500 check as the second 

payment for the adoption of Quinn and Baron. Again, the only citation in the brief to this 

alleged error is the brief in support of the motion for reconsideration. The motion for 

reconsideration lacks any citation to the trial record. 

Issue 2: Whether the trial court precluded Carrie Aenkfrom presenting a 

defense when the court sustained a series of hearsay objections during Allan 

Aenk's testimony. 

Answer 2: No. 

Carrie Aenk contends the hearsay rulings also violated her right, under the 

Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, to present a defense. We 

discern no error. 
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When addressing her constitutional argument, Carrie Aenk argues that the 

standard of review for evidentiary rulings is de novo. The State responds that this 

reviewing court should employ an abuse of discretion criterion, the familiar review 

for evidentiary issues. 

The standard of review under these circumstances is unclear. In State v. 

Jones, the Washington Supreme Court wrote: "[s]ince Jones argues that his Sixth 

Amendment right to present a defense has been violated, we review his claim de 

nova." 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). However, in State v. Aguirre, 

the state high court declared: 

Although Aguirre does have a constitutional right to present a 
defense, the scope of that right does not extend to the introduction of 
otherwise inadmissible evidence. The admissibility of evidence under the 
rape shield statute, in tum, "is within the sound discretion of the trial 
court." State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 17, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). 

168 Wn.2d 350, 362-63, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) (internal citations omitted). We do not 

need to resolve this conflict because under either standard we affirm the trial court. 

The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to 

a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 

U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973). A defendant's right to an 

opportunity to be heard in his defense, including the right to examine witnesses against 

him and to offer testimony, is basic in our system of jurisprudence. Chambers v. 

16 



No. 34035-0-111 
State v. Aenk 

Mississippi, 410 U.S. at 294. Nevertheless, an accused does not have a right to offer 

incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible evidence under standard rules of 

evidence. Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988); 

State v. Lizarraga, 191 Wn. App. 530,553,364 P.3d 810 (2015), review denied, 185 

Wn.2d 1022, 369 P.3d 501 (2016). 

We previously held that the proffered testimony did not violate evidentiary rules. 

Therefore, the trial court committed no constitutional error. 

Issue 3: Whether sufficient evidence supports the element of "deception" for 

Carrie Aenk's theft in the third degree conviction. 

Answer 3: Yes. 

Carrie Aenk argues that the State failed to produce evidence that she deceived the 

Hatfields when she accepted payment of the $500 nonrefundable adoption fee for Duke. 

We disagree. 

Evidence is sufficient if a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) 

(plurality opinion). Both direct and indirect evidence may support the jury's verdict. 

State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986). This court draws all 

reasonable inferences in favor of the State. State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 

P.2d 1136 (1977). In claiming insufficient evidence, the defendant necessarily admits the 

17 



No. 34035-0-III 
State v. Aenk 

truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it. 

State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 106,330 P.3d 182 (2014). Only the trier of fact weighs 

the evidence and judges the credibility of witnesses. State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 

604, 781 P.2d 1308, 789 P.2d 306 (1989). 

The statute governing theft in the third degree provides: 

A person is guilty of theft in the third degree if he or she commits 
theft of property or services which (a) does not exceed seven hundred fifty 
dollars in value. 

RCW 9A.56.050(1). In this context, "theft" means: 

[b ]y color or aid of deception to obtain control over the property or 
services of another or the value thereof, with intent to deprive him or her of 
such property or services. 

RCW 9A.56.020(1)(b) (emphasis added). RCW 9A.56.010 defines additional 

terms: 

(4) "By color or aid of deception" means that the deception operated 
to bring about the obtaining of the property or services; it is not necessary 
that deception be the sole means of obtaining the property or services; 

(5) "Deception" occurs when an actor knowingly: 

( e) Promises performance which the actor does not intend to perform 
or knows will not be performed. 

In her briefing, Carrie Aenk emphasizes her testimony regarding a lack of intent to 

deceive. She focuses on her and her husband's testimony that the Hatfields had never 

adequately prepared the Hatfields' property to care for horses and that the Aenks never 
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abridged an agreement to deliver the horses. Nevertheless, we determine sufficiency of 

evidence by construing the evidence in favor of the State. The State presented evidence, 

which the jury found credible, that Aenk never intended to deliver Duke, valued at $500, 

to the Hatfields. Exhibits showed alterations by Carrie Aenk of the contract price for the 

horses. Text messages showed hostile threats from Carrie Aenk to prevent the Hatfields 

from gaining access to the horses. Elle Hatfield testified to the delays and false promises 

of the Aenks. Dustin Hatfield testified to Carrie Aenk's attempt to cash a check despite a 

promise to the contrary. Both Hatfields averred concerning the constant delays in 

delivering the horses. Under the contract, the Hatfields paid a $500 nonrefundable price. 

The jury could have concluded that Carrie Aenk proffered illegitimate excuses to deliver 

Duke so that she could pocket the $500 without forgoing possession of Duke. 

Issue 4: Whether this court should award appellate costs in favor of the State? 

Answer 4: No. 

Carrie Aenk asks this court to deny the State an award of costs on appeal in the 

event the State prevails. Generally ''the party that substantially prevails on review" will 

be awarded appellate costs, unless the court directs otherwise in its decision terminating 

review. RAP 14.2. An appellate court's authority to award costs is "permissive," and a 

court may, pursuant to RAP 14.2, decline to award costs at all. State v. Nolan, 141 

Wn.2d 620, 628, 8 P.3d 300 (2000). An appellate court has discretion to require a 
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convicted defendant to pay appellate costs to the State. RCW 10.73.160(1); RAP 14.2. 

· Carrie Aenk submitted a report of continued indigency that shows her persisting 

penury. Therefore, we deny the State appellate costs. 

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS 

Carrie Aenk lists seven arguments in her statement of additional grounds. Each 

fails. 

A criminal defendant can submit a pro se statement of additional grounds for 

review "to identify and discuss those matters related to the decision under review that the 

defendant believes have not been adequately addressed by the brief filed by the 

defendant's counsel." RAP 10.lO(a). The rule additionally provides in part: 

Reference to the record and citation to authorities are not necessary 
or required, but the appellate court will not consider a defendant's 
statement of additional grounds for review if it does not inform the court of 
the nature and occurrence of alleged errors. Except as required in cases in 
which counsel files a motion to withdraw as set forth in rule 18.3(a)(2), the 
appellate court is not obligated to search the record in support of claims 
made in a defendant's statement of additional grounds for review. Only 
documents that are contained in the record on review should be attached or 
ref erred to in the statement. 

RAP 10.lO(c); see also State v. Alvarado, 164 Wn.2d 556, 569, 192 P.3d 345 (2008). 

Carrie Aenk's statements 1, 6, and 7 reference information beyond the trial court 

record. Statements 2, 3, 4, and 5 rely on documents attached to Aenk's statement but 
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outside the trial court record. Therefore, we decline to address the merits of the 

statements of additional grounds. 

CONCLUSION 

We affirm Carrie Aenk' s convictions for attempted second degree theft and third 

degree theft. We deny the State costs on appeal. 

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to RCW 

2.06.040. 

Fearing, C .J. 

WE CONCUR: 

Lawrence-Berrey, J. 
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